

# Automation Editor Guide July 1, 2019

#### **PROPRIETARY NOTICE**

Copyright © 2019 APIANT, Inc. All Rights Reserved.

The information herein is the property of APIANT, Inc., and any misuse or abuse will result in economic loss. DO NOT COPY UNLESS YOU HAVE BEEN GIVEN SPECIFIC WRITTEN AUTHORIZATION FROM APIANT, INC.

#### DISCLAIMER

THE INFORMATION IN THIS DOCUMENT WILL BE SUBJECT TO PERIODIC CHANGE AND UPDATING. PLEASE CONFIRM THAT YOU HAVE THE MOST CURRENT DOCUMENTATION. THERE ARE NO WARRANTIES OF ANY KIND, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, PROVIDED IN THIS DOCUMENTATION, OTHER THAN THOSE EXPRESSLY AGREED UPON IN THE APPLICABLE APIANT, INC. CONTRACT, ERRORS AND OMISSIONS EXCEPTED.

For additional information, please contact:

APIANT, Inc. 196 West Ashland Street Doylestown, PA 18901

Email: support@apiant.com

### **Table of Contents**

Introduction	5
APIANT overview	6
What is APIANT?	6
Who can use APIANT?	7
Chapter 1: Automation Editor Overview	12
Automation Editor Overview	13
Account Settings	14
Account Management	17
Switch Accounts	18
Chapter 2: Building Automations	24
Building Automations	25
Configuring a Trigger	26
Configuring a Trigger Filter	30
Configuring an Action	33
Mapping Data Fields	34
Configuring Conditional Branches	36
Editing Item Settings	39
Copy/Paste Actions and Conditionals	40
Repositioning Items	41
Editing Notes	42
Removing items	44
Saving	45
Chapter 3: Automation Types	47
Supported Automation Types	48
Polling Automations	49
Instant Automations	51
Two-way Sync Automations	52
Export Automations	55
Chapter 4: Dashboard Functionality	56
Dashboard Functionality	57
Automation Tiles	64
Gear Icon Menu	66
Edit Automation	67

Task History	67
Retrying Failed Transactions	71
Processing -> Execute Now	72
Processing -> Data Storage	73
Processing -> Logging	74
Processing -> Error Handling	75
Processing -> Two-way Sync Mappings	76
Processing -> Manage Stored Data	77
Processing -> View Database Dump	78
Processing -> Reset	79
Manage -> Edit Polling Schedule	80
Execution Windows	82
Manage -> Versions	83
Manage -> Rename	84
Manage -> Copy	84
Manage -> Share	85
Manage -> Deploy	86
Linking Automations	87
Manage -> Move to Folder	88
Manage -> Tags	88
Manage -> Notes	89
Manage -> Referenced By	89
Manage -> Get UUID	90
Manage -> Export	90
Manage -> Publish as Template to Production	91
Manage -> Publish as Template	91
Manage -> Delete	92

# Introduction

The APIANT Automation Editor Guide is for semi-technical people who want to learn the basics of using the Automation Editor to build automation solutions.



### **APIANT** overview

### What is APIANT?

APIANT is a system for leveraging API's to build automated workflows and visual widgets. APIANT provides advanced technology for building solutions that access, process, and output data easily and flexibly.

**APIANT is browser-based.** All solution development occurs within a web browser.

**APIANT can build automations.** APIANT can build automations that perform data processing among multiple API's. Automations consist of one or more triggers and one or more actions plus optional conditional logic. If the trigger criteria are met, the actions are invoked. Conditional logic can be used to execute certain actions. Conditional logic can be nested.

**API integrations can require no coding.** Visual wiring diagrams, called Assemblies, allow data processing modules to be connected and configured to send/receive data from API's and perform data processing logic. Nested assemblies can be created, called subassemblies. Subassemblies allow modularized, re-usable data processing components to be built. Extension modules allow inline coding when necessary, using JavaScript, Java, or PHP.

**Solutions can run in the browser or on the server.** APIANT can not only build automations, but also web services (REST-style API endpoints external systems can invoke), batch processes, and even visual browser widgets. Browser widgets can access server-side assemblies, allowing solutions to distribute their processing as needed.

**APIANT is fully extensible.** Software developers can extend the system either with inline JavaScript/Java/PHP code or by writing custom software modules using the built-in browser-based Integrated Development Environment (IDE). A full-featured debugger aids module development.



#### Who can use APIANT?

APIANT is designed to be used by people of varying technical skill levels:

- Non-technical people can build automations with the Automation Editor that perform actions when trigger criteria are met.
- Semi-technical analysts with knowledge of XML can construct assemblies that process data and perform logic without coding.
- Business-level developers with some knowledge of JavaScript can create more sophisticated solutions, by writing logic and connecting components together to form larger solutions.
- Software engineers can extend the system by building custom software modules using JavaScript/Java and the provided Module API.



APIANT's Automation Editor can be used by non-technical people to build automated workflows.



Automations can consist of one or more trigger criteria coupled with one or more actions to be performed. Actions can be branched using conditional logic. Nested conditional logic branches can be built.

Apps, triggers, and actions are all integrated via Assembly Editor diagrams, making the Automation Editor fully extensible.

All automations and widgets in the system are composed of one or more assemblies built with the Assembly Editor.



An assembly is a collection of software modules configured to perform processing. Software modules perform data input, processing, and output.

Nested assemblies can be created, called subassemblies. Subassemblies help to manage the complexity of assembly diagrams by forming modular, reusable components.

Assemblies may run either in the browser or on the server. An assembly running in the browser can invoke one or more assemblies on the server, which in turn can invoke other server-side assemblies.



Assemblies are composed of one or more software modules, created with the Module IDE.



The Module IDE provides all the facilities needed to build and troubleshoot software modules.

The module user interfaces that appear in assembly diagrams are built with the drag-drop WYSIWYG module definition designer shown above.

Modules can have properties that control their runtime behavior. A drag-drop WYSIWYG property designer is used to design how module properties appear.

A browser-based code editor is used to develop the module implementation using JavaScript/Java. The UI for visual modules can be designed with a WYSIWYG designer.

Class libraries can be developed, to create reusable modules that can be shared across module implementations. The system provides many class libraries used to construct the system itself.

Server scripts can be developed from the IDE, using languages installed on the server like JSP or PHP. Server scripts help extend the processing of modules, making use of existing libraries.

Module resources like graphic art and audio clips can be uploaded to the server from the IDE.

The Module IDE also provides a full-featured debugger to help troubleshoot modules. The debugger can inspect variables and object instances, monitor class attributes and methods, and evaluate entered expressions.

APIANT includes a comprehensive Admin Console for system administrators. The Admin Console provides system administrators extensive tools and functionality to help operate the system.

APIANT	Ad	min Console	
<ul> <li>Activity</li> <li>Automations</li> <li>Batch Jobs</li> <li>Web Services</li> <li>Web Services</li> <li>Protocol Threads</li> <li>Native Work Queue</li> <li>Memory Usage</li> <li>Tenants</li> <li>User Accounts</li> <li>User Roles</li> <li>App Catalog</li> <li>Catalog Categories</li> <li>System Compile</li> <li>System Keyvault</li> <li>System Settings</li> </ul>	Recent User Activity: System Admin Anonymous System Setup Cloud Setup	Nov 05 22:46:35 EST Nov 02 20:36:28 EDT Jul 31 20:59:10 EDT Dec 17 11:13:30 EST	Refresh Activity List
⑦ System Upgrade	System Announcement: The system will be going offline and login again about 30 minut Compose E-mail to Broadcas		Activate Announcement



# Chapter 1: Automation Editor Overview



## **Automation Editor Overview**

APIANT's Automation Editor is a browser-based visual tool for building automation solutions. Triggers and actions are configured together to perform functionality.



One or more triggers on the left side emit data that meet criteria as determined by the trigger implementations. A common trigger is one that fires when new data is created.



One or more actions on the right side process each emitted trigger data row in succession. Branches can be used to conditionally execute one or more actions depending on logic tests.

The system contains hundreds of integrated apps and over a thousand triggers and actions. The system can be extended with new apps, triggers, and action using the Assembly Editor.

## **Account Settings**

Account settings are accessible from your account menu at the top right:



#### Your account settings will appear in a popover:

Create an Automation	Conne	ections	Dashboard	Assembly Editor	System Admin 🔻
		Alert		Settings Immediately <b>v</b> aation Default Settin applied to newly created	0
		Send Send	email on any au	: Every 15 minutes utomation timeout: utomation error: my error: Yes Apply	Yes Yes

You can configure how often the system sends you email alerts resulting from automation processing errors:



When Hourly or Daily are selected, the system will collect all alerts during that period and send just a single digest email containing all alerts.



By default the system sends email alerts to your account's email address. You can enter one or more alternative email addresses to use instead:



Separate multiple addresses with commas.

The next group of settings only apply for newly created automations:

### New Automation Default Settings

These settings will be applied to newly created automations.

Default polling speed: Every 15 minutes Send email on any automation timeout: Ves Send email on any automation error: Ves Halt automation on any error: Yes



### **Account Management**

You can manage your account from the menu option under your account menu at the top right:

Create an Automation	Connections	Dashboard	Assembly Editor	System Admin 🔻
				Settings Manage
				Sign Out
				Switch

The Account Management dialog will appear:

Manage Account				
First Name: System E-mail address:	Last Name: Admin			
E-mail address: someone@somewhere.com Timezone:				
(GMT-05:00) Eastern Time (US & Canada) ▼ Change password				
Car	ncel Update			

You can edit your account details and change your password as needed.



## **Switch Accounts**

The Switch menu option is support-level functionality that allows you to impersonate other accounts:





**Note:** This menu option only appears for accounts having the "Switch Account" permission.

An account selection dialog will appear:



After an account is chosen, the current session will impersonate the selected account.

**Note:** Do not switch accounts while editing an automation, or when viewing any account-specific information! It is best to only switch accounts from the dashboard.

## **Connection Management**

You can manage your account from the menu option under your account menu at the top right:

APIANT	Create an	Automation Connections	Dashboard Ass	sembly Editor	Templates DEV 🔻
	My app connections		+ Connect a	n app	
	Арр	Connections		_	
	ActiveCampaig	n Default	l 아 아 🖥		
	Disconnect all accounts	. Connect a	nother account	_	
	Agile CRM	Default	○ ○ ○ 前		
	Disconnect all accounts	. Connect a	nother account	_	

A list of all your connected app accounts will appear.

You can add an app connection by clicking the **Connect An App** button.

Each app lists its connections:

	Google Sheets	Default Fred	⊡ ⊙ C• ⊡ ⊙ C• 亩
Disconn	ect all accounts	Connect and	ther account

The first connected account is always named "Default".



All connected accounts for an app can be disconnected by clicking the **Disconnect All Accounts** button.

**Note:** Whenever accounts are disconnected, automations using those accounts are turned off.

Click the **Connect Another Account** button to add a new connection:

Connect to Google Sheets	
Existing Connections:	
Default	
Fred	
New Connection Name:	
Cancel OK	

Connection names must be unique. The first connection is always named "Default".



The icons to the right of each account name operate upon each account:



The first note icon can be used to save notes about each connection:

Notes about "D	efault":	
My personal acc	ount	

The "eye" icon lets you inspect the connection details:

Connection Details	
Connection details for "Defau	lt":
api_key = XXXXXXXXXXXXXX	
	Cancel

The circular arrow icon can be used to reconnect the account. The trash can icon will disconnect the account.



# **Chapter 2: Building Automations**

## **Building Automations**

To build a new automation, from the dashboard click the **Create An Automation** button or choose the link in the top menu.

APIANT	Create an Automation	Connections	Dashboard	Assembly Editor	System Admin 🔻
	arch automations			System Usage	
	ctive Automations eate an Automation		All	Folders 🕂	Ο

The automation builder screen appears:

ΑΡΙΑΝΤ	Create an Automation	Connections	Dashboard	Assembly Editor	System Admin 🔻
Automation name:	Name your automation		Save	Cancel	
	When	Then			
	(+)				

You can type in a name for your new automation if you want. If no name is entered, a default name will be shown when the automation is saved.

#### Configuring a Trigger

Begin by clicking the "plus" icon to choose a trigger:



By default, the search field will search the catalog by app names. Only apps having triggers in the system will be displayed.



You can search for apps in a certain category by choosing a category from the dropdown list:



You can search by trigger name across all trigger apps by choosing "Triggers" in the dropdown list:



Now you can search for triggers across all apps. Here is a search for all triggers having "form" in their name:



After selecting a trigger app or trigger, you may need to connect an account in order to use the selected app. The system will walk you through the steps needed to connect an account, if needed.



Once the needed credentials for the trigger app have been obtained, the trigger settings configuration dialog will appear:

Trigger Setting	S
	New worksheet Triggered when you create a new worksheet within the specified spreadsheet.
	Using your connected Google Sheets account + Connect another account Spreadsheet name: (required)
	Select  Select
	Cancel Save Trigger

The content of this dialog will vary depending on the selected trigger's needed settings.



#### Configuring a Trigger Filter

After the trigger's settings are configured, a button appears that let you define a Trigger Filter:

Trigger Settings
🛅 New worksheet
Triggered when you create a new worksheet within the specified spreadsheet.
Using your connected Google Sheets account
+ Connect another account
<b>Spreadsheet name:</b> Select the target spreadsheet.
Test Sheet 🔻
Filter trigger data rows to only allow these items:
+ Add a filter (optional)
Cancel Save Trigger

A Trigger Filter only allows data rows matching the entered criteria to be processed by the automation's actions.

Trigger Settings			
🛅 New worksheet			
Triggered when you create a new worksheet within the specified spreadsheet.			
Using your connected Google Sheets account			
+ Connect another account			
Spreadsheet name: Select the target spreadsheet.			
Test Sheet 🔻			
Filter trigger data rows to only allow these items:			
X     Worksheet Name     ▼     Contains     ▼     test			
+ Add AND filter			
+ Add OR filter			
Cancel Save Trigger			

The Trigger Filter can contain complex AND and OR logic that operate upon data fields emitted by the trigger.



Click the **Save Trigger** button when done configuring the trigger. The trigger will appear in the automation builder:



You can optionally add additional triggers if needed. Multiple triggers will result in the actions being performed when any trigger emits data.

The most common use for multiple triggers is for two-way sync automations, that bi-directionally mirror data across two apps.

#### **Configuring an Action**

Click the "plus" icon on the right side to choose an action:



The first option lets you select an app from the catalog as is done for triggers.

The "Transform data" option is an abbreviated catalog that just contains built-in system apps that perform common data transforms:





#### Mapping Data Fields

Action settings are configured similarly to trigger settings, but with the additional capability of mapping data fields to the action's inputs:

ction Settings		
	<ul> <li>Replace text         Replaces one or more specified text strings with the given replacement text string.         </li> <li>Halt if error         Halt the processing of the trigger data row if an error occurs.         Continue if error         Processing of the trigger data row will continue if an error occurs. An error message data field will be emitted, which can used in a Conditional to branch and perform error handling.     </li> </ul>	be
Value	Search fields	Show only required fields Show only mapped fields
• Trigger #1 Art:		
Replace with		
		Cancel Save Action

The content of this dialog will vary depending on the selected action's needed settings and mappable data fields.

#### Click in a data field to edit it:

Action Settings	
Halt the processing of the trigger data row will continue if an error occurs.   Continue if error Processing of the trigger data row will continue if an error occurs. An error message data field will be emitted, which can be used in a Conditional to branch and perform error handling.  Show only required fields Show only mapped fields Value	Mappable Fields      Search fields      #1 Capitalize      Attion error message     Capitalized value      New top story      Article title     Article Title Plaintext     Article Description     Article Description     Article URL      Add a field      System values     Current date
Replace with	

A list of mappable data fields will appear. Data fields from triggers or previously executed actions are available.

Selecting a data field will add it at the current cursor position in the edit area.

**Tip:** You can type in textual data into the edit area and place field mappings within the text where you want them.

An example usage is for building an email template, where the customer's name is a mappable data field.



#### **Configuring Conditional Branches**

Conditional branches can be used to execute different action flows depending on configured logic:



To add a conditional branch, click a "plus" icon on the right side and choose the **Conditional Branch** menu option:




The condition can use multiple AND/OR logic tests:

Condition Settings	
Decision Logic:	
Action #1 AssistantName     Contains      Robert     + Add AND Logic	
- OR -	
<pre>Action #1 AssistantName Contains  Frederic + Add AND Logic</pre>	
+ Add OR Logic	
	Cancel Save Condition

Click in an edit field to insert trigger data fields or data fields emitted by actions prior to the condition.

Condition Settings	
Decision Logic:	
Contains V	
+ Add AND Logic	Mappable Fields
	Q Search fields
	#1 Find object record
	Action error message AccountId
	AssistantName
	AssistantPhone
	Birthdate
	CleanStatus
	CreatedById
	CreatedDate
	Department
	Description
	Email EmailBouncedDate
	EmanbouncedDate
	Cancel Save Condition

## APIANT

Additional actions or conditions can be placed following a condition:



**Note:** Conditions can be nested to an unlimited level, where other conditional branches are placed in the true/false branches.

Follow the generated numbering to understand the flow. Action #1 is the entire conditional branch. Action #2 will always execute, regardless of which true/false branch is executed.



#### **Editing Item Settings**

Double-click existing triggers and actions in the automation editor to edit their settings:



Alternatively, single click an item and choose its **Edit** menu option:



# APIANT

#### Copy/Paste Actions and Conditionals

Actions and conditional branches can be copied and pasted. To copy an action or conditional, click it and choose the **Copy** menu item:



Then click any action plus icon and choose the Paste menu item:





**Note:** The editor will attempt to preserve field mappings when possible. Still, it is a good idea to review your field mappings for the items you have pasted.



**Note:** Actions and conditions can also be pasted to other automations in the same browser session!

#### **Repositioning Items**

Mousing over items will cause them to show up/down arrows:



Click an arrow to move the item accordingly.

If the move target is a Conditional Branch, the editor will prompt you to choose a destination. You can choose to move the item to the end of either the true or false branch, or before or after the Conditional.

**Note:** The editor will attempt to preserve field mappings when possible. Still, it is a good idea to review your field mappings for the items you have moved.



#### **Editing Notes**

Click a trigger or an action and select the **Edit Notes About This Step** option to document the steps in your automation as may be needed:



A dialog will appear for editing the notes about the step:

# APIANT

	When	Then	
	New video uploaded by you	5A	2
	AND	#1 Uppercase	
Not	es		
Note	s about this st	ep:	
	vert the title to u		

Your notes will appear underneath the item:



# APIANT

#### Removing items

To remove an item from the automation, click it and select the **Remove** menu item:





**Note:** The editor will also remove any field mappings that use the item's output.



#### Saving

Automation #1841:	Keep YouTube API Alive		Save	Cancel
	When New video uploaded by you AND Every day at	Then (+) (+) (+) (+) (+)		
	(+)			

Click the Save button to save your automation:

When saving a new automation, if you have not yet entered a name for it the system will automatically generate one:

Create Automation
Name:
When Google Sheets New worksheet, then Transform Text #1 Uppercase
Initial state:
ON 💮
ОК

You can also choose whether to have the newly created automation be initially turned on when saved.



The new automation will appear in your dashboard:



Q

Ö

Total tasks: 0



# Chapter 3: Automation Types

# 

## **Supported Automation Types**

The Automation Editor supports building these types of automations:

- Polling
- Instant
- Two-way sync
- Export

The following sections describe each of these types of automations and how they are built and executed.



## **Polling Automations**

The most common automations are those that have polling triggers. Polling triggers are identifiable by their names not starting with the word "Export" and by their names not ending with "(instant)".

Polling automations are periodically executed based on a schedule that can be flexibly defined. The default schedule is every 15 minutes.

Each time the system executes a polling automation based on its schedule, the triggers will determine what data needs to be processed. Then the actions in the automation are executed for any data rows emitted by the triggers.

When saving a new polling automation, the following prompt appears to choose how to schedule the automation:





The default "Polling" option will schedule the automation to execute as fast as your account permissions allow. The default is every 15 minutes.

The polling schedule can be refined from the automation's gear icon in the dashboard.Choosing the other option to define a schedule yourself will cause the Date Time app to be added to the automation:



A Date Time trigger can be selected to run the automation at the defined schedule.



### **Instant Automations**

Unlike polling automations, instant automations respond to data immediately. Instant triggers are identifiable by their names ending with "(instant)".

Whether or not instant triggers are available for an app usually depends on if the app supports sending data immediately.

When configuring some instant triggers, you may have to go to the app and perform an action that will cause data to be sent. The automation editor will inform you what to do and wait for data to be received:

A	You must now perform an action that will cause the webhook to be sent. This window will automatically close when the webhook is received. Waiting for webhook
	Cancel

Instant automations have no schedule. If an instant automation is turned on, it will process data immediately as it is received.



## **Two-way Sync Automations**

Two-way sync automations allow the bidirectional syncing of data between two apps. Here is a partial example:



(There are more actions than shown in the screenshot.)



The two-way sync automation in the screenshot above mirrors contacts in HubSpot with clients in MINDBODY. Whenever records are added or updated in one system, the changes are mirrored to the other system.

Triggers and actions having names starting with "two-way sync" are those that can mirror data back and forth.

Conceptually a two-way sync automation sends data from one app to the other app like so:



Action field mappings are criss-crossed. The action for app A uses data from app B.

In practice two-way sync automations are never as simple as this, because data usually has to be translated between the two apps.



A common technique is to use the Transform Text "lookup value in key-value table" action to map values in one system to the other system, like so:

🙆 Looku	ıp value in key-value tab	le	
	supplied key, find its matching ue lookup table.	value from a supplied	
If checke case-sen	ensitive: ed, the input value comparison as sitive.	gainst the keys will be	
Yes			
If checke	hitespace?: ed, the input value will be trimme vhitespace characters.	ed of leading and	
Ves			
& Look	sup table:		
Enter	keys on the left, lookup values	on the right.	
(	true	lead	
(	false	customer	
OCCO Con Proc erro emi	tinue if error cessing of the trigger data row r occurs. An error message d tted, which can be used in a c perform error handling. Search fields	w will continue if an ata field will be	+
<b>Default if not four</b> The default value to us unchanged if no match USE_ORIGINAL	e if no matching key is found. E	inter "USE_ORIGINAL" to leave the original value	+

Here, a value of "true" in app A for its "isProspect" field is translated to "lead" for app B, and a value of "false" in app A is translated to "customer" for app B.



## **Export Automations**

Export automations are generally only used for one-time migrations of historical data from app to app. Export triggers are identifiable by their names starting with "Export".

Export automations can never be turned on. They can only be executed manually via the gear icon.



Export automations will not time out when executed. They are allowed to run to completion.



**Warning!** Export automations currently perform all data processing in-memory. Processing too much data can cause the server to exhaust its memory.

Export automations can be manually halted from the automation's History screen:

No history found.

A Executing Trigger #1 (Gmail - Export all email addresses labeled)... Halt execution

Click the **Halt Execution** button to stop the automation.



# Chapter 4: Dashboard Functionality

# APIANT

## **Dashboard Functionality**

The dashboard is accessed via the menu link at the top right:



The dashboard is divided between active automations and inactive automations.



Depending on the system configuration, you may also see usage information for your account:

Account Us	age
Plan: Performance 3 I	Monthly
Active automations	1/600
Total tasks 🕐	0/300000

The system can be configured with limits on the number of active automations or the total number of tasks that can be processed each month.

Automations can be grouped into folders:





Click the "plus" icon to create a new folder:



When new automations are saved they can be placed into an existing folder.

Existing automations can be moved to a folder via the gear icon menu:





Select the destination folder:



You can quickly find automations that had an error the last time they executed via the dropdown menu:



Only automations that had an error the last time they were executed will be shown.



Automations can be searched for by name, number, or tag:



Only matching automations are displayed:

	All CALINACTIVE Automations	
		¢
#2	When Google Sheets New worksheet and Date48m 04sTime Every hour at, then Transform Text #1Capitalize	On 🚱
	Total tasks: 0	- 🗘







When you enter a search, the automations become selected:

		All Active Automation	าร			Create an Au	tomation	
				C+		Folders	+	
	#2	When Google Sheets New worksheet and Date Time Every hour at, then Transform Text #1 Capitalize	46m 43s	On 🔊	All All		4	
		Total tasks: 0		- 🗘				
		All <b>T</b> Inactive Automatic	ons					
Error	#1	When Google Sheets New worksheet, then Transform Text #1 Uppercase		Off				
		Total tasks: 0		<b>\$</b>	Se	elected Auto	omations:	
						🔶 googl	e	
						all on bloy all	Turn all off Export all	

The buttons in the selection area operate upon all selected automations.

All selected automations can be turned on or off at once.

If your account has the "Deploy Automations" permission, the **Deploy All** button can be used to deploy the selected automations to other accounts in the system.

If your account has the "Export" permission, the **Export All** button can be used to export the selected automations to your local machine as a file.



The exported automations can then be imported into another APIANT system by right-clicking on the background of the dashboard:





## **Automation Tiles**

Automation tiles display varying information depending on the type of automation.

Polling automations display a countdown timer for the next time the automation will be evaluated for execution:

#2	When Google Sheets New worksheet and Date Time Every hour at, then Transform Text #1 Capitalize	31m 24s	On 🚱
	Total tasks: 0		<b>\$</b>

**Note:** When the countdown timer goes to zero, the automation is only evaluated to see if it should be executed or not. Schedule windows can be defined to restrict polling automations to being run only during certain times of certain days, e.g. 8am-5pm M-F.

See the documentation for the gear icon that follows to learn how to define a schedule window.

The "total tasks" value shows the total number of tasks processed by the automation since it was created.

If your system is configured to limit tasks per month, then the total tasks for the month-to-date is displayed instead:

#3429	When new deal in SI referral Then create lead in	07m 25s	On 💮
	Intercom Total tasks this month: 13		
	Iotal tasks this month: 13		



A task is a trigger data row successfully processed by an action. If an automation has multiple actions, the trigger data row is counted once per successful action.

Webhook automations have no countdown timer and show "(instant)" instead:

#3 When Webhook New webhook received (instant), (instant) On S then Transform Text #1 Uppercase
 Total tasks: 3 the stant trigger invocations this month: 3

Webhook automations also display how many times they have been invoked month-to-date.

Export automations have no on/off switch and are always inactive:

 #4 When Gmail Export all email addresses labeled, then Transform Text #1 Capitalize
 Total tasks: 0

Export automations can only be run manually.



## **Gear Icon Menu**

The automation gear icon access functionality for operating and managing automations:





**Note:** The available menu options within submenus will vary depending on the type of automation and your account permissions.



## **Edit Automation**

The gear icon menu's **Edit Automation** top-level menu option edits the automation in the automation builder.

## **Task History**

The gear icon menu's **Task History** top-level menu option opens the automation's history screen:

Automation #3 History

When Webhook New webhook received (instant), then Transform Text #1 Uppercase

		<b>Q</b> Search history	< back to dashboard
Filter	by: All		Refresh
	Automation #3 execution finished		Fri Dec 21 13:27:07 EST 2018
٢	Action #1 (Transform Text - Uppercase)		Fri Dec 21 13:27:07 EST 2018
	Automation #3 execution finished		Fri Dec 21 13:27:02 EST 2018
٢	Action #1 (Transform Text - Uppercase)		Fri Dec 21 13:27:02 EST 2018
	Automation #3 execution finished		Fri Dec 21 13:26:50 EST 2018
	Action #1 (Transform Text - Uppercase)		Fri Dec 21 13:26:50 EST 2018

History is retained 90 days for your account.

The history screen shows transactions that were either filtered, successfully processed, or errored.

The screen will display a message if the automation is currently executing while you have its history screen open:

No history found.	
A Executing Trigger #1 (Gmail - Export all email addresses labeled)	Halt execution

The **Halt Execution** button can be used to stop the automation's processing.



Transaction logs are only stored in the system for a system-configured period of time. The bottom of the screen shows how long history is retained for your account.

# 

The filter dropdown lets you filter transactions by their status:



You can also search for transactions by either entering a query or by entering a specific date:

Automation #3 Histo When Webhook New webhook received (instant), th	Search for matching transaction data. Optionally, enter a date as yyyy-mm-dd to return entries for that day.
<b>Q</b> Search history	< back to dashboard

Transactions matching your search will be returned:

Automation #2627 History When customer adds a template, create Agile tag UUID				
Filter by: All	Q 2018-12-21 Press ENTER	< back to dashboard		
Automation #2627 execution finished		Fri Dec 21 04:07:57 EST 2018		
Action #2 (Agile CRM - Add tag to contact)		Fri Dec 21 04:07:57 EST 2018		
Action #1 (Agile CRM - Find contact)		Fri Dec 21 04:07:52 EST 2018		
Automation #2627 execution finished		Fri Dec 21 03:58:06 EST 2018		
Action #2 (Agile CRM - Add tag to contact)		Fri Dec 21 03:58:06 EST 2018		
Action #1 (Agile CRM - Find contact)		Fri Dec 21 03:58:01 EST 2018		

History is retained 90 days for your account.

# APIANT

#### Transactions in the history screen can be clicked to access details:



The Debug Log tab is only available if your account has the "Automation Debug Logs" permission.

The link icon at the top right can be clicked to obtain a URL to the current screen:



You can send the link to support personnel to get help troubleshooting issues.

# APIANT

#### **Retrying Failed Transactions**

Transactions that fail to process will have a retry button next to them, if the system is able to retry them:

Automation #1 execution finished	Fri Jan 04 20:08:55 EST 2019
2 Action #1 (Transform Text - Capitalize)	Retry Fri Jan 04 20:08:55 EST 2019
8 Action #1 (Transform Text - Capitalize)	Retry Fri Jan 04 20:08:55 EST 2019
2 Action #1 (Transform Text - Capitalize)	Retry Fri Jan 04 20:08:55 EST 2019

Clicking the Retry button will open a dialog with options for the retry:



The first option will re-use the transaction data stored in the system as-is.

The second option lets you edit the transaction data before retrying. This can be used to correct errant data.

The third option will discard the transaction data in the system and attempt to fetch the data again. This option is only available for polling automations and not for webhooks (instant triggers).



## **Processing -> Execute Now**

The gear icon menu's **Processing -> Execute Now** option lets you manually execute the automation immediately.



Select one of the available options and click the Execute button to run the automation immediately.

<i>U</i> ″	<b>Note:</b> This menu option is not available for webhook
<u>III</u>	automations.
#### **Processing -> Data Storage**

The gear icon menu's **Processing -> Data Storage** option can be used to disable all transactional data storage:



This option is intended for automations that process sensitive data, such that no transaction history or logs are stored.



## **Processing -> Logging**

The gear icon menu's **Processing -> Logging** option can be used to enable or disable debug logging:



Turning debug logging off significantly reduces the size of the system's log storage. Turning off debug logging also improves automation execution performance.



**Note:** This menu option does not appear when Data Storage is disabled, since no logs are generated.

# 

## **Processing -> Error Handling**

The gear icon menu's **Processing -> Error Handling** option controls what happens when an automation encounters an error during processing:



You can choose to receive email alerts upon any timeout or error. You can also choose to halt the automation if it encounters any error during processing.



# **Processing -> Two-way Sync Mappings**

The gear icon menu's **Processing -> Two-way Sync Mappings** option opens a screen for managing a two-way sync automation's mapping data:

Two-Way Sync Mappings				
Automation #2131 Two-way sync Contacts MINDBODY & ActiveCampaign				
		<b>Q</b> Search by mapped Item ID	]	< back to dashboard
				Refresh
Арр	Item ID	Item Last Modified	System Created D	ate
MINDBODY	100000657	2019-06-30T14:22:18.4	2019-06-30 10:22:18	
Active Campaign	53	2019-06-30 09:22:09	2019-06-30 10:22:12	
MINDBODY	100000485	2019-06-29T05:26:42.5	2019-06-29 01:26:53	
Active Campaign	52	2019-06-29 00:27:00	2019-06-29 01:27:01	
MINDBODY	100000498	2019-06-29T05:17:54.8	2019-06-29 01:18:04	Update
Active Campaign	51	2019-06-29 00:18:19	2019-06-29 01:18:20	Delete
		_		

The search field at the top can be used to find specific mapped item ids.

Existing entries can be modified and updated, or mappings can be deleted.

**Note:** This menu option is only available if your account has the "Assembly Developer" or "Switch Account" permission and if the automation contains a two-way sync trigger.



## Processing -> Manage Stored Data

The gear icon menu's **Processing -> Manage Stored Data** option opens a screen for managing a polling automation's stored data:

Stored Data				
Automation #2151 When New row at bottom in Google Sheets Then Add or update contact in ActiveCampaign				
		<b>Q</b> Search Value Nam	es Value	Names 🔻 < back to dashboard
				Refresh
Keygroup	Key	Value Name	Value	System Created Date
triggerUniqueRows	items	https://spreadshe	1561465191730	2019-06-25 08:19:51
triggerUniqueRows	items	https://spreadshe	1561465191703	2019-06-25 08:19:51
triggerUniqueRows	items	https://spreadshe	1561465191701	2019-06-25 08:19:51
triggerUniqueRows	items	https://spreadshe	1561465191714	2019-06-25 08:19:51
triggerUniqueRows	items	https://spreadshe	1561465191724	2019-06-25 08:19:51
triggerUniqueRow	items	https://spreadshe	1561465191706	2019-06-25 08:19:51
triggerUniqueRow	items	https://spreadshe	1561465191715	2019-06-25 08:19:51
triggerUniqueRows	items	https://spreadshe	1561465191705	2019-06-25 08:19:51
triggerUniqueRows	items	https://spreadshe	1561465191720	2019-06-25 08:19:51
triggerUniqueRows	items	https://spreadshe	1561465191735	2019-06-25 08:19:51 Update Delete

# >

Polling automations at a minimum typically store item ids within the Value Name column that represent processed data rows.

The search field at the top can be used to find specific data with each column. The most common search is defaulted, which is to find a specific processed item id with the Value Name column.

Existing entries can be modified and updated, or can be deleted.

**Note:** This menu option is only available if your account has the "Assembly Developer" or "Switch Account" permission and if the automation contains a polling trigger.



## **Processing -> View Database Dump**

The gear icon menu's **Processing -> View Database Dump** option opens a new browser window containing all of the automation's stored data.



**Note:** This menu option is only available if your account has the "Assembly Developer" or "Switch Account" permission.

#### **Processing -> Reset**

The gear icon menu's **Processing -> Reset** option only appears for polling automations. It can be used to flush data row identifiers and two-way sync mappings from the database:

nth	· 46	
Ci	Confirm	ks
n	This will reset the automation back to its initial state, such that processed data row identifiers are removed from the database.	
nt 4	Two-way sync automations will have all their sync ids flushed from the database. This will cause the automation to only sync newly created items going forward. Any previously synced items will no longer be mirrored.	l
a nt Ca	The next time the automation is executed after the reset, it will not process any data b/c it will initially save all data row identifiers into the database.	R
d	Upon the second execution the automation will then process normally.	t I
nt	Are you sure you want to reset automation #2440?	.0
	Reset	ia
N aci		es

After being reset, the automation won't begin to process data again until after it is executed one time:





#### Manage -> Edit Polling Schedule

The gear icon menu's **Manage -> Edit Polling Schedule** option is only available for polling automations. Select it to view schedule information:



The polling schedule can be modified by clicking its link:



If the polling automation uses a Date Time trigger to schedule execution, the Polling Schedule cannot be modified:

# 

#2 When Google Sheets New worksheet and Date Time Every hour at, then Transform Text #1 Capitalize	35m 03s On	9
Total tasks: 0	×	\$
Polling Schedule: Determined by the automation's Date/Time Execution Windows: Edit	e Trigger Hide	



#### **Execution Windows**

Polling automations can have execution windows defined to run the automation only during certain time windows on certain days, e.g. 8am-5pm M-F:



To not have an automation run on a certain day, set its start and end times to the same value as shown on Saturday and Sunday above.

**Note:** When a polling automation's countdown timer goes to zero, the automation is only evaluated to see if it should be executed or not. The automation will only be executed if the execution window criteria is met.



#### Click the **Hide** link to hide schedule information:



#### Manage -> Versions

The gear icon menu's **Manage - > Versions** option opens a list of all the automation's saved versions:

	Automation Versions
	12/13/18 12:00 PM Refreshed spreadsheet fields
	12/13/18 11:58 AM remove get product by id and added get se
	12/13/18 11:45 AM Using new Get client by id action
	12/13/18 10:36 AM Added new Get Client by id deton
	12/13/18 10:34 AM renamed
	12/12/18 01:59 PM troubleshooting
	12/12/18 01:03 PM Added a retrieve product by id action step
	12/12/18 12:57 PM Mapped purchase date
Off	12/12/18 12:55 PM Initial version
22	
2.2	
05	
24	
24	
Off	(Click outside to cancel)

Click a version to open it in the automation builder. If you then save the automation, that older version will become the latest version.



#### Manage -> Rename

The gear icon menu's **Manage -> Rename** option is used to rename an automation directly from the dashboard:



### Manage -> Copy

The gear icon menu's **Manage -> Copy** option lets you copy an existing automation, to use it as a template to build a new automation.

**Note:** The system does not allow identical automations to be saved.



## Manage -> Share

The gear icon menu's **Manage -> Share** option generates a link you can give to other system users to let them use a copy of your automation:

Share Automation
The URL below can be used by others to create a copy of this automation.
This will automatically be copied to your system clipboard after clicking OK:
https://apiant.com/automation-editor?shared_automation=b58039885dc048c9802b0ad1abd7f5cc
ОК

### Manage -> Deploy

The gear icon menu's **Manage -> Deploy** option lets you deploy an automation directly to one or more other accounts in the system:

Deploy t	o Accounts	
All	Q Jane	Doe
Deploy?	Jane Doe	test_install_1@apiant.com
Deploy?	Jane Doe	remotetemplate7@apiant.com
<		
		Cancel Deploy to the selected account(s)

**Note:** This menu option is only available if your account has the "Deploy Automations" permission.

Find the account(s) to share the automation with, check the Deploy checkboxes next to the desired accounts, then click the Deploy button to share the automation with the selected account(s).



#### Linking Automations

Deployed automations can be optionally linked to their destination automations.

If the automation being deployed is not currently linked, a prompt will appear upon clicking the deploy button:

Link?
Do you want to link this automation to the deployed automations? Once linked, future deployments of your linked automation to the same destination accounts will result in the destination automations being updated rather than new automations being created.
No, do not link Yes, link

Once linked, if the source automation is edited and later deployed, accounts that already have the linked automation will have that automation updated with the edits.



**Warning!** Any edits made to linked automations in recipient accounts will be overwritten when the automation is redeployed.

When a recipient account edits a linked automation, a message appears to warn that edits will be lost if the sender redeploys the automation.



#### Manage -> Move to Folder

The gear icon menu's **Manage -> Move to Folder** option is used to move an automation to a folder:



# Manage -> Tags

The gear icon menu's **Manage ->Tags** option is used to edit tags for an automation:

1	Automation # 3 Tags
	Tags (separate multiple with commas):
	sales, customers
ſ	
	Cancel Update

Automations can be searched for by tag from the dashboard.



### Manage -> Notes

The gear icon menu's **Manage -> Notes** option can be used to document your automations:

ic	Automation #3 Notes	
L	Notes about automation #3:	
fc		
Ŀ		
ts Y		
ir	Cancel OK	

# Manage -> Referenced By

The gear icon menu's **Manage -> Referenced By** option lists automations having a "execute automation" or "turn automation on or off" system action that references the automation:

References
This automation is referenced via an 'execute automation' or 'turn automation on or off' system action in the following: #2 My second automation #3 My third automation
ОК



### Manage -> Get UUID

The gear icon menu's **Manage -> Get UUID** option copies the automation's unique identifier to your clipboard:



### Manage -> Export

The gear icon menu's **Manage -> Export** option can be used to download the automation to your local machine as a file.



**Note:** This menu option is only available if your account has the "Export" permission.

The exported automation can then be imported into another APIANT system by right-clicking on the background of the dashboard:

	All • Active Automations
Software version	<b>Q</b> Search automations
Import automation(s)	No Active Automations
	Create an Automation

### Manage -> Publish as Template to Production

The gear icon menu's **Manage -> Publish as Template to Production** option only appears on development servers for accounts having the "Publish to Production" permission. It publishes the automation to a production server as a template.

### Manage -> Publish as Template

The gear icon menu's **Manage -> Publish as Template** option only appears on non-development servers for accounts having the "Automation Templates" permission. It publishes the automation as a template to the "templates" account. The "templates" account is a special system account that manages the template catalog.



## Manage -> Delete

The gear icon menu's **Manage -> Delete** option deletes the automation after your confirmation.